



[image: Cover Image]






Also by Roy and Lesley Adkins


THE KEYS OF EGYPT


EMPIRES OF THE PLAIN


TRAFALGAR


THE WAR FOR ALL THE OCEANS


JACK TAR


EAVESDROPPING ON JANE AUSTEN’S ENGLAND


See www.adkinshistory.com




Copyright


Published by Little, Brown


ISBN: 978-1-4087-0868-2


Copyright © 2017 Roy and Lesley Adkins


The moral right of the author has been asserted.


Maps by John Gilkes


All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without the prior permission in writing of the publisher.


The publisher is not responsible for websites (or their content) that are not owned by the publisher.


Little, Brown


Little, Brown Book Group


Carmelite House


50 Victoria Embankment


London EC4Y 0DZ


www.littlebrown.co.uk


www.hachette.co.uk




To our friends
Charlie Rosado and Pepe Rosado in Gibraltar
and Peter N. Lockyer in Gosport




[image: image]


Location of Gibraltar within western Europe and north Africa
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Main place-names within the British Isles
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Southern England and the English Channel
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Andalusia, Gibraltar and the Strait of Gibraltar (from Cape Trafalgar to Gibraltar)
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Main locations within the Bay of Gibraltar
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Main locations within Gibraltar and the isthmus
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Main locations within Gibraltar town (in ruins), the northern part of the Rock, the Spanish Lines and the advance works across the isthmus by September 1782. Willis’s comprised several batteries, including Princess Amelia’s, Princess Anne’s and Princess Caroline’s




PROLOGUE
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DISASTER


After three years of relentless siege, everyone on Gibraltar was starving, war-weary and desperate for the relief convoy to arrive, not realising that it was yet to set sail on the 1500-mile journey. The convoy was still at Spithead, between the Isle of Wight and Portsmouth, though with the newspapers in England full of stories about an imminent assault on the Rock, fears were growing that it was already too late to save Gibraltar. Even so, urgent preparations were being carried out on board a multitude of vessels, including the Royal Navy’s greatest wooden warship, HMS Royal George – a formidable three-decker with more than 100 cannons and a crew of around 850 seamen, officers and marines.1


On board this particular warship, the final consignment of stores needed to be loaded, as well as some last-minute repairs done, but being a fine morning, the vessel would soon be ready to sail. In nearby Southsea, a woman glanced out towards the Royal George, taking in the idyllic scene, before starting on a letter to a distant relative. ‘The day is calm and pleasant,’ she wrote, ‘and as I sit at the open window, the great vessel in the offing, betwixt me and the Fair Island [Isle of Wight] seems to sway not a hand-breadth, nor to flutter a single pennant.’ Her shock as she looked out to sea once more was betrayed by the shaky handwriting:






A dreadful thing has happened. When I had written that beginning of my letter, Dorothy, I looked again southward; the sea was waveless as before, and the Fair Island sparkled in the sun, but betwixt us and it I saw no trace of the great three-decker. I thought my brain had gone wrong, and rang the bell for Agnes; but when she too could see nothing of her, a terrible apprehension took hold of me; and when the alarmguns from the fort [Southsea Castle] began to thunder, I knew the vessel had gone down. I hear near a thousand men were aboard of her.2








In the time taken to write a few sentences with a quill pen, the Royal George had sunk so rapidly that hundreds of people were trapped and drowned. Men in nearby ships were equally stunned. One eyewitness related that they all rushed on deck: ‘What an altered scene in a few short moments! … She was not in the spot she so lately occupied – no vestige of her was to be seen; but as soon as the commotion of the water was stilled (for some minutes it was very great), all the boats … put off for the spot, which seemed as though a hive of bees had been cast on the waves, so thick with boats and human beings struggling for life … Long, long, will the 29th of August, 1782, be remembered!’3


One the few lucky survivors was the seaman James Ingram, who had been on the upper deck heaving massive wooden barrels of rum on to the deck as they were hauled up in a sling. ‘The last lighter [the Lark sloop], with rum on board had come alongside,’ he later wrote,






this vessel was a sloop of about fifty tons, and belonged to three brothers, who used her to carry things on board the men-of-war. She was lashed to the larboard [port] side of the Royal George, and we were piped to clear the lighter and get the rum out of her, and stow it in the hold of the Royal George. I was in the waist of our ship [middle part of the upper deck], on the larboard side, bearing the rum-casks [barrels] over, as some men of the Royal George were aboard the sloop to sling them.4








Although the warship had been tilted to one side to carry out a repair just below the waterline, the angle was so slight that those on board took little notice, and from nearby ships everything looked normal. With barely a breath of wind and a flat calm on the sea, conditions for repairs and loading supplies were ideal, but suddenly Ingram heard an urgent order to bring the ship upright: ‘I ran down to my station, and, by the time I had got there, the men were tumbling down the hatchways one over another to get to their stations as quick as possible to right [the] ship. My station was at the third gun from the head of the ship on the starboard side of the lower gun-deck.’ Before anything could be done, the warship began to tip over sideways, and Ingram managed to escape by following his friend Ned Carrell through a gunport: ‘I immediately got out at the same port-hole, which was the third from the head of the ship on the starboard side of the lower gun-deck, and when I had done so, I saw the port-hole as full of heads as it could cram, all trying to get out.’5 Even as he scrambled to safety, the ship was falling sideways, so that the gunports were now facing upwards, towards the sky:






I caught hold of the best bower-anchor, which was just above me, to prevent falling back into the port-hole, and seized hold of a woman who was trying to get out at that same port-hole – I dragged her out. The ship was full of Jews, women, and people selling all sorts of things. I threw the woman from me – and saw all the heads drop back again in at the port-hole, for the ship had got so much on her larboard side, that the starboard port-holes were as upright as if the men had tried to get out of the top of a chimney with nothing for their legs and feet to act upon.6








He was just in time, because the huge vessel went straight to the bottom:






I threw the woman from me, and just after that moment the air that was between decks drafted out at the port-holes very swiftly. It was quite a huff of wind, and it blew my hat off, for I had all my clothes on, including my hat. The ship then sunk in a moment. I tried to swim, but I could not swim a morsel, although I plunged as hard as I could both hands and feet. The sinking of the ship drew me down so – indeed I think I must have gone down within a yard as low as the ship did. When the ship touched the bottom, the water boiled up a great deal, and then I felt that I could swim, and began to rise.7








The vortex caused by the sinking of the ship sucked Ingram down almost to the seabed, but he managed to struggle to the surface and found that the masts of the Royal George had risen up above the water. ‘In going down,’ he explained, ‘the main yard of the Royal George caught the boom of the rum-lighter and sunk her, and there is no doubt that this made the Royal George more upright in the water when sunk than she otherwise would have been, as she did not lie much more on her beam ends than small vessels often do when left dry on a bank of mud.’ These masts proved a blessing for the survivors, and Ingram swam to the main mast where he tried to save the woman he had previously rescued. He called to another seaman, a baker, who managed to grab her unconscious body as she floated past: ‘He caught hold of the woman and hung her head over one of the ratlins of the mizen shrouds, and there she hung by her chin, which was hitched over the ratlin, but a surf came and knocked her backwards, and away she went rolling over and over.’8


On shore a mile-and-a-half away, thirty-year-old Richard Dennison Cumberland, vicar of Driffield in Gloucestershire, was strolling to Southsea Castle with his cousin John Balchen. The pair had come to Portsmouth to see the Grand Fleet before it sailed, and the previous afternoon they had taken advantage of the custom of respectable sightseers being permitted to visit warships, as Cumberland described in a letter to his brother George in London: ‘[we] took a wherry and went aboard the Royal George at Spithead – as being one of the finest ships in the fleet. We met with the most civil behaviour from the officers, who shewed us every part worth seeing … We took notice of the number of women on board and they assured us there were above 400 and near double the number of men.’9


Once they reached Southsea, the two men found everyone peering out to sea: ‘They told us, a large ship had just foundered, and shewed us the mizen and main masts lying sloping out of the water and a crowd of boats busy about them. With the help of a glass I distinguished a blue flag at the mizen mast, yet we flattered ourselves it was only a transport.’ While walking back to Portsmouth, they heard the dreadful news that this was in fact the Royal George, and the blue pennant indicated that it was the flagship of the sixty-four-year-old Rear-Admiral Richard Kempenfelt. An extremely experienced seaman and brilliant tactician, Kempenfelt had radically changed the system of naval signalling and was one of the most highly regarded officers of the Royal Navy. ‘You cannot think how much we were affected,’ Cumberland wrote. ‘It was the identical ship in which we had begun to take an interest. The genteel treatment we had met with the preceding evening, the more than possibility of our having delayed our visit till this morning or perhaps renewed it and the recollection of every face we had seen on board, struck us at once.’10


Attempts were already being made to rescue survivors, though Ingram, still clinging to the main mast, was more concerned about the woman who was being washed away:






A captain of a frigate which was lying at Spithead came up in a boat as fast as he could. I dashed out my left hand in a direction towards the woman as a sign to him. He saw it, and saw the woman. His men left off rowing, and they pulled the woman aboard their boat and laid her on one of the thwarts. The captain of the frigate called out to me, ‘My man, I must take care of those that are in more danger than you.’ I said ‘I am safely moored now, sir.’11








Before too long, it was Ingram’s turn to be taken off: ‘The captain of the frigate then got all the men that were in the different parts of the rigging, including myself and the baker, into his boat and took us on board the Victory, where the doctors recovered the woman, but she was very ill for three or four days.’ In order to resuscitate victims, it was the practice to rub their bodies and warm them up, though not always with success: ‘I saw the body of the carpenter, lying on the hearth before the galley fire; some women were trying to recover him, but he was quite dead.’12 The woman who survived was twenty-six-year-old Elizabeth (‘Betty’) Horn, and she owed her life to Ingram. Betty was one of a handful of wives who had been due to sail in the Royal George, some of them with their children. She was married to the seaman John Horn, who also survived.13


Bodies were now being brought ashore at Portsmouth Point, and Cumberland and his cousin did what they could to help:






We walked to the Point and came up just as they had brought one of the poor fellows on shore and were rolling him over a barrel [to get water from his lungs] in his wet cloaths and in the rain. We thrust ourselves among the mob and made them carry him to the next tavern, assisted in pulling off his cloaths, procured warm blankets and pursued the methods recommended by the Society [for the Recovery of Persons Apparently Drowned] but they were applied too late. Finding him in good hands and hearing other bodies were brought ashore, we went out and found a woman in the same condition on the shore and no one attempting to do any thing to save her.14








They now separated, with Cumberland later admitting that ‘after the greatest exertion I ever made for two hours I had the mortification of only leaving the bodies in a more decent situation than I found them. After making the people amends for their trouble I returned to our inn, and found Balchen there as much fatigued as myself.’15


The number of survivors and dead brought on shore in the first few hours was relatively small, because the Royal George had sunk so rapidly that the majority of those on board were trapped. The warship had been badly overcrowded with crew members, prostitutes, wives of seamen, children, craftsmen from the dockyard, tourists and many traders – well in excess of a thousand people. In the wars of the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, the Royal Navy was constantly short of seamen and resorted to conscription by press-gangs. Once in a ship, the unwilling men might be at sea for months on end, with no shore leave in case they deserted. Warships anchored well away from land, as at Spithead, to prevent the men from swimming to freedom, and all supplies and visitors were instead taken out by boat to the ship. Traders in small boats, many of them Jewish, were also permitted to bring all manner of goods to sell, including so-called wives – prostitutes.16


Warships effectively became floating brothels when moored at Spithead. Hundreds of prostitutes, at times outnumbering the men, remained for several days, selling sex and liquor, drinking, swearing and joining in the general raucous revelry. Francis Vernon, a young Irish midshipman who had taken part in an earlier relief convoy of Gibraltar, described what happened when his ship, HMS Terrible, was at Portsmouth:






Our ship’s company could now revel in the delights of Portsmouth, and filled the ship with hundreds of those obliging females, who desert the capital during the war, and reside in the genteel recesses of Portsmouth, and other naval towns. The back of the point at Portsmouth has been famous [for] some centuries, and the appearance of its inhabitants serves as a barometer, whereby our success against the enemy can in some degree be ascertained, for captures produce money, and this circulating, passes from the seaman to his lass, who being lavish in expence, gives room by the flash of her appearance and dress, to point out the strength of Jack’s purse.17








Exactly how many people were on board the Royal George that day will never be known, as Ingram explained: ‘The number of persons who lost their lives I cannot state with any degree of accuracy, because of there being many Jews, women, and other persons on board who did not belong to the ship. The complement of the ship was nominally 1000 men, but it was not full. Some were ashore, and sixty marines had gone ashore that morning.’18 Although Cumberland had been told the previous day that more than four hundred women were present, the real number may have been greater, most of whom would have been prostitutes from Portsmouth and Gosport. While relatively good records of the officers and sailors were kept, there was no record of the prostitutes and other civilians, and it was left to the newspapers to speculate:






There was also a body of carpenters from the Dock, to assist in careening the ship; and, as usual on board all ships of war in harbour, a very large number of women, probably near 400. Of these the bulk were the lowest order of prostitutes, but not a few were the wives of the warrant and petty officers. A most poignant scene of anguish and distress was exhibited by a respectable looking old woman, whose daughter and five children had gone on board the same morning to see their father.19








At Portsmouth, attempts at resuscitation changed rapidly to dealing with the corpses that were being washed ashore or picked up in boats. Cumberland was struck by the reaction of the Portsmouth Point prostitutes:






I cannot help mentioning a circumstance that has since made us smile. It was the false delicacy of the Point Ladies at the publick houses we were in who could not be persuaded to strip and rub the bodies till a clean shift had been procured and then their lamentations over them were curious indeed. One of the poor creatures left two children at Gosport, the other lost one from her arms. Very few of the women were saved, being below decks – many of them sailors wives who kept a little market on board.20








After all hope of survivors had faded, preparing the fleet to relieve Gibraltar was once more the priority, though corpses continued to emerge from the wreck, as Ingram described: ‘In a few days after the Royal George sunk, bodies would come up, thirty or forty nearly at a time. A body would rise, and come up so suddenly as to frighten any one.’21 Another seaman, Samuel Kelly, arrived at Spithead some days later on board the packet boat Grenville and moored nearby:






the dead bodies belonging to the Royal George floated and passed our ship both with ebb and flood tide … the rigging of the Royal George was decorated, not with colours, but with dead bodies, who were hung up by arms, legs etc., which presented a horrid spectacle. These men had floated at high water, and to prevent the tide carrying them away, had been tied fast to the shrouds and mainstay, and at low water … they were suspended several feet above the water. Some people searched the pockets of the dead while [they] floated on the tide. ’Tis more than probable that as this crew had just been paid their wages, that they had been the day before rioting in drunkenness and debauchery.22








Once the corpses were stripped of their possessions, they had little chance of being identified. Because no authority had responsibility for burying bodies washed ashore, they were dealt with in a haphazard way, in spite of protests voiced in the newspapers. At least nine hundred people had drowned in a matter of minutes. Only a few women, a couple of children and around two hundred seamen and officers were saved. A fund was set up at Lloyd’s Coffee House in London to help the widows and orphans of the seamen who lost their lives. This was the start of the Lloyd’s Patriotic Fund that has, over the centuries, provided assistance to the families of sailors and continues to help former service personnel and their dependants. With predictable parsimony, some of the money was subverted to deal with the corpses that continued to break free from the wreck: ‘The bodies that have been found were heretofore carried in carts to be buried, but the Committee have now directed that those which may be found shall be conveyed in hearses, and decently interred, the expense to be paid out of the subscription money.’23 No support was given to the families of the prostitutes and other civilians.


The sudden, shocking loss of such a formidable battleship in a flat calm and at a safe anchorage, within sight of land, was an incomprehensible tragedy that affected everyone – not just in Portsmouth, but throughout the country and across Europe. The Royal George was a prestigious warship, one of only three that were constructed specifically to carry a hundred guns and destined to be flagships. The others were the Victory and the Britannia, both of which were also at Spithead ready to escort the convoy. The Royal George was named after George II, the grandfather of the present King George III, but many people regarded the warship as a symbol of the monarchy. Until eclipsed by the Titanic, the sinking of the Royal George remained the most famous shipping tragedy. For the Grand Fleet, which the king and his government hoped would break the blockade of Gibraltar, it felt like a disaster. The additional delay caused by the aftermath of the loss of the ship made it even more likely that the convoy would not be in time to save Gibraltar from falling to the French and Spaniards.




CHAPTER ONE


[image: image]


BEGINNINGS






We on salt pork and beef are fed,


A stone supports each wearied head,


A horn of water is our drink,


Pleasures forgot, on War we think.


We cry ‘Alls well’, count shell and shot,


Who’d envy our happy lot?


Come here and learn the Ways of War.


Written by a soldier in Gibraltar
during the Great Siege1








Spain desperately wanted Gibraltar. This strange rocky peninsula fortress, protruding from the southern shore of Andalusia and dominating the landscape, had proved a constant source of irritation ever since its capture by the British in 1704. The Spanish king and his government insisted on regarding Gibraltar as a plundered possession that had to be reclaimed, but the inhabitants of Andalusia were more relaxed, content to enjoy plentiful trade and friendly relations with their neighbours. So there was nothing unusual about the morning of Saturday 19 June 1779, when the British governor of Gibraltar, Lieutenant-General George Augustus Eliott, rode across the border into Spain at the head of a splendid procession of officers and aides-de-camp. Their destination was the hilltop town of San Roque, 5 miles away, where they intended to congratulate Joaquin de Mendoza, the Spanish governor, on his recent promotion to lieutenant-general.


Reciprocal social events between the people of Spain and Gibraltar were frequent, and the normal courtesies were dutifully observed, as had happened only two weeks earlier when the British and Spaniards celebrated the birthday of King George III at a gala ball – though with hindsight it was perhaps odd that Mendoza’s wife attended the event when he himself was absent.2 Life was exceptionally pleasant for those posted to the military garrison of Gibraltar, and several officers had sent their families to spend the summer at San Roque and in the small Andalusian villages around the picturesque Bay of Gibraltar. They themselves could indulge in fishing or perhaps go on hunting trips further inland, and according to John Drinkwater, an ensign in the 72nd Regiment,






the strictest intimacy subsisted between the military, and the Spaniards resident in the adjacent villages. Parties were reciprocally visiting each other, and the officers constantly making excursions into the country. These excursions, with others to the coast of Barbary [Morocco], (which in the season super-abounds with various species of game) were pleasing relaxations from the duties of the garrison, and rendered Gibraltar as eligible a station as any to which a soldier could be ordered.3








Private letters often mentioned local wine being shipped to England, and only a few weeks earlier, on 12 April, Eliott had written to his brother-in-law Sir Francis Drake (a descendant of the famous Elizabethan seafarer) that a shipment of wine was on its way to him at Nutwell Court near Exeter in Devon. No payment was required, Eliott said, only Devon cider in return, and he urged Sir Francis to join him at Gibraltar: ‘I am sure it would delight you; travelling in Spain is full as commodious as in Wales. I don’t despair of seeing you when the war [with France] is over. The French I should think have nearly enough.’4 Eliott’s assessment was wrong, because on the very day he wrote this letter, France and Spain signed a treaty that would change the lives of everyone on Gibraltar.


When Eliott and his officers reached San Roque, instead of their normal welcome, Governor Mendoza was noticeably embarrassed, and their visit was awkward and brief. Something was obviously wrong. Later on that day, back in Gibraltar, the reason for his manner became startlingly clear when Charles Logie, the British consul at Tangier, sailed across the Straits to bring Eliott the news that war between Britain and Spain looked highly likely.5 Such a war had long been the subject of speculation, and just forty-eight hours later Mendoza wrote officially to Eliott that he had received orders from Madrid to cut off all contact with Gibraltar by land and sea. Every British subject living at San Roque, he said, should return immediately to Gibraltar, even some young girls sick with smallpox, while British residents further afield were instructed to travel to Portugal.


Lieutenant-Colonel Charles Ross and Captain John Vignoles, both of the 39th Regiment, were on leave in Spain and found themselves unable to return. From Malaga, they rode to San Roque, but on being refused entry were forced to make a long journey to the port of Faro in Portugal. They only reached Gibraltar a month later, after rowing back in disguise in an open boat.6 Others failed in their escape attempts and were taken prisoner. Britain and Spain were now at war, and with cool diplomatic courtesy, Gibraltar was cut off from the world. The Great Siege had begun.


Already one of the most bitterly contested territories on earth, this was Gibraltar’s fourteenth siege. Siege warfare was the process of capturing a fortified place, such as a castle, city or fortress, usually by setting up a blockade to stop supplies getting in, which meant deploying a sizeable army. Especially in the ancient world and during medieval times, before the invention of gunpowder, sieges were commonplace and could drag on for years. The aim was to wear down the defenders so that starvation, thirst and disease would force them to surrender. The besiegers would also attack the defensive walls to weaken and breach them, perhaps using battering rams or weapons such as catapults that fired huge stones. One such siege took place at Harlech Castle.


Following his conquest of Wales in 1283, the English King Edward I built the castle right on the coast (though it is landlocked now). From 1460, during the Wars of the Roses, it was held by the Lancastrians against the Yorkists and became a base for operations. Edward IV chose not to attack Harlech as it was too costly, but finally decided to capture the castle when Jasper Tudor, the Earl of Pembroke, landed near Harlech in June 1468 and led raids into Wales. A large army was mobilised, and after a siege lasting a few weeks, the garrison surrendered. Claims are made that Harlech was the longest siege in British history, but the siege itself lasted only a very short time.7 The longest siege was the Great Siege of Gibraltar, lasting 1323 days, from 21 June 1779 to 2 February 1783 and far exceeding the duration of other notable sieges such as Leningrad and Malta in World War Two.


Although known as the Great Siege, this fourteenth siege of Gibraltar is arguably the greatest ever siege, with its extraordinary events, innovations and massive artillery bombardments exchanged between the British and Spaniards. When it started in 1779, Spain was unable to spare large numbers of troops to capture Gibraltar, and in any case previous sieges had shown the futility of relying on infantry and cavalry attacks. Instead, the plan was to prevent all provisions reaching Gibraltar. It was relatively straightforward to stop communication by land, and Spanish warships would try to prevent vessels sailing to and from the Rock. While the garrison was being starved into submission, France and Spain also planned to invade Britain in order to force everyone to the negotiating table.


The strategic importance of Gibraltar was well known from Classical times, when it was regarded as one of the Pillars of Hercules, an awe-inspiring sight that warned sailors they had reached the edge of civilisation. Beyond was the perilous ‘Ocean’, thought to be a vast river that encircled the earth. Gibraltar (‘Calpe’) was one of the pillars that the god Hercules had set up, and the other one was Ceuta (‘Abyla’), a similar-shaped rock on the opposite African coast. Originating with the ancient Greeks, the myth of the pillars was subsequently adopted by the Romans. It explained how Hercules had cut a channel – the Straits – to separate Africa and Europe, though another version said that he actually pulled the two continents together to prevent Atlantic sea monsters from bursting into the Mediterranean. With the limitations of their sailing vessels, only the most intrepid sailors would have ventured westwards into the Ocean. The rest would have been deterred by fears of the unknown and the real dangers of difficult tides, currents and winds at the meeting point of the Mediterranean and Atlantic.


In the fifth century ad, Roman Spain fell to Visigothic invaders. Three centuries later the daughter of Count Julian, the governor of Ceuta, was raped by the Visigothic King Roderick, provoking Julian to persuade the Moors – the Muslim inhabitants of Morocco and Algeria – to invade Spain. At least, that is how legend explained why, in 711, an invasion and conquest of Spain by Muslim Arabs began when Tarik ibn Ziyad sailed with his army from Tangier, some 30 miles west of Ceuta. He landed near (or possibly on) Gibraltar, a name that derives from the Arabic Djabal Tarik – Tarik’s Mountain.


The subsequent Christian ‘Reconquest’ (Reconquista) to recover the lost lands across the Iberian peninsula lasted nearly eight centuries, and during this struggle Ferdinand IV of Castile took control of Gibraltar in 1309 after its very first siege. It was a brief Christian interlude, because during a fourth siege twenty-four years later, the fortress reverted to Muslim control. On the other side of the Straits, Ceuta was captured from the Moors in 1415 by Portugal, which was that country’s first overseas conquest. Gibraltar itself did not again surrender to Christian control until the eighth siege, on 20 August 1462 – the feast day of St Bernard of Clairvaux, who became Gibraltar’s patron saint. This ended seven centuries of Muslim rule, and although further sieges followed, they were between warring Christian factions.


Ferdinand II of Aragon and his cousin Isabella of Castile were married in 1469, and their joint rule as the ‘Catholic Monarchs’ led to the unification of Spain as a single nation. Granada was the last Muslim kingdom to surrender, in January 1492, marking the end of the Reconquest, and Ferdinand and Isabella then gave their blessing for Christopher Columbus to embark on his voyage of exploration across the Atlantic – well beyond the Pillars of Hercules. That same year also saw religious persecution escalate across Spain, with the expulsion of thousands of Jews who refused to convert to Christianity, followed shortly afterwards by Muslims being given the same choice of conversion or expulsion.


By now, the Duke of Medina Sidonia held Gibraltar, but he complied with an order from Isabella to surrender it to the Spanish Crown, and in July 1502 a new coat-of-arms was granted to Gibraltar that included a castle linked by a chain to a key. The accompanying Royal Warrant explained that Gibraltar ‘is very strong and, by virtue of its position, is the key to those kingdoms between the eastern and western seas, and the guardian and defender of the Straits between these same seas, such that no ships or people passing from one sea to the other can fail to see it or call in’.8 Isabella died two years later, and her last will and testament decreed: ‘I charge the Princess [her daughter Joanna] and the Prince, her husband [Philip of Burgundy], and the Kings who shall succeed me in these Realms, ever to hold as inalienably of the Crown and Royal Patrimony, the City of Gibraltar and all that belongs to it; never to give it away, or alienate it or suffer it to be given away or alienated, nor anything that belongs to it.’9 Contrary to her will, Gibraltar was lost two centuries later, but before then Spain gained Ceuta when, in 1580, Philip II of Spain also became Portugal’s king. Ceuta has remained in Spanish hands ever since, even after Portugal became independent.


With an improvement in sailing ships, the seventeenth century saw power shift from the central Mediterranean to countries on Europe’s western seaboard, notably Britain, Spain, Portugal and Holland. In the middle of the century, England decided to keep a permanent naval squadron in the Mediterranean, though Oliver Cromwell thought a few frigates would be sufficient if Gibraltar was taken. Without a suitable invasion force, nothing came of this plan, but after the restoration of the monarchy Charles II obtained Tangier in 1662 as part of the dowry of his wife, Catherine of Braganza, daughter of the king of Portugal. A vast amount was spent on a mole to create a sheltered harbour, but Tangier was deemed too costly to maintain, especially after being constantly attacked and besieged by the Moors under their ruler Muley Ismail. Samuel Pepys was brought from London to advise on Tangier’s destruction, which was then reduced to rubble and abandoned. The Moors partly rebuilt Tangier, and from 1694 thousands of Muley Ismail’s troops turned their attention to taking Spanish-held Ceuta.10


When Carlos II of Spain died childless in November 1700, Philip, Duke of Anjou, succeeded to the throne as Philip V of Spain. Because he was the grandson of Louis XIV of France, the Sun King, it was feared that France would dominate worldwide trade, and so the War of the Spanish Succession was triggered, with Britain, Austria and the Netherlands supporting the rival Habsburg claimant – the Archduke Charles of Austria. On the Continent, the Duke of Marlborough commanded Anglo-Dutch forces against the French, with notable victories at Blenheim and Ramillies, while Admiral Sir George Rooke was in charge of an Anglo-Dutch fleet. A naval base was urgently needed between the French and Spanish Atlantic and Mediterranean ports, and so in 1703 Rooke was ordered to seize the Spanish port of Cadiz. He failed in the attempt, but shortly afterwards Portugal signed the Methuen Treaty with England, and the allied fleet was able to make use of Lisbon instead.11


The following year, Rooke attempted to take Barcelona, but the attack was soon called off. At a council of war on board his flagship, it was decided – almost as an afterthought – to attack Gibraltar. Manned by a weak Spanish garrison, the Rock was captured with relative ease in the name of Archduke Charles on 24 July 1704 (according to the calendar still used in England; it was 4 August elsewhere in Europe). Just three months later, the Spaniards tried to regain Gibraltar in what was its twelfth siege, but gave up in April 1705. The War of the Spanish Succession dragged on with enormous costs to both sides, but peace negotiations finally began in 1712, and the Treaty of Utrecht was signed in March 1713.


Part of the settlement confirmed Philip V as king of Spain, so the intended purpose of the war had failed, though Great Britain (Scotland and England having formally established a union in 1709) did gain Gibraltar, which was granted in perpetuity, along with the Mediterranean island of Minorca that had been captured from Spain in 1708. The treaty did not deter Spain from mounting yet another siege of Gibraltar in 1727, the thirteenth, but the attempt was abandoned four months later. The Spaniards fared better at Ceuta, because on the death of Muley Ismail in the same year, the siege that had lasted intermittently for so long was finally lifted.12


At the outbreak of the Seven Years’ War in 1756, rumours were heard that Minorca was under threat, and so in early April Vice-Admiral John Byng’s squadron was ordered to sail there from Portsmouth. On reaching Gibraltar four weeks later, Byng learned that it was too late – the French had already landed thousands of troops without opposition and were besieging the formidable Fort St Philip at Port Mahon, into which the weak British garrison had retreated. He headed for Minorca and engaged with the French fleet, but after suffering damage and casualties he decided to retreat in order to safeguard Gibraltar. Fort St Philip surrendered two months later – news that was met with hysterical consternation in Britain.


In a court-martial at Portsmouth, Byng was found guilty of failing to do his utmost to take or destroy the French ships. He was shot by firing squad on 14 March 1757 and is best remembered through Voltaire’s 1759 novel Candide in which the hero witnesses Byng’s execution and is told that ‘in this country it is good to kill an admiral from time to time in order to encourage the others’ (‘pour encourager les autres’). In France, jubilation at the victory was expressed in songs and plays, as well as in the creation of a new culinary treat named after Port Mahon – Mahonaise sauce, now spelled mayonnaise.13 The celebration was short-lived, because at the end of the war, under the Treaty of Paris, France lost a great deal of territory, including Minorca, which was returned to Britain.


Just over a decade later, America became the focus of attention when the struggle for freedom from Britain broke out at Lexington in 1775. In an attempt to gain revenge for their losses in the Seven Years’ War, Louis XVI’s France soon sided with the rebel American colonies and agreed to supply ships, men and weapons, but once the French intervened a new wave of patriotism spread through Britain. Many militia regiments were formed as a home guard, since there was a genuine fear of Britain being invaded, while new regiments were enthusiastically recruited by private subscription, including the 72nd Regiment of Foot at Manchester. It was originally intended for America, but was actually diverted to Gibraltar, with recruiting posters boasting that this was ‘the best garrison in His Majesty’s Dominion’.14 The recruits included fifteen-year-old John Drinkwater from Latchford in Cheshire, a former pupil of Manchester Grammar School, who became an ensign. His father, also known as John Drinkwater, was a surgeon and man-midwife who practised in Salford and was one of the committee responsible for raising this regiment. All the recruits were young, and Joseph Budworth, another former pupil, wrote of his company: ‘I never saw so fine a body of men, or more undaunted soldiers … I was the oldest man but one … at twenty-one.’15


Although hostilities had already started, France only officially declared war on Britain in July 1778, but they needed Spanish naval ships to achieve overwhelming superiority.16 The Spaniards under Carlos III, who had become king in 1759, were initially reluctant to help the American colonists gain independence. Because Carlos III wished to regain Minorca and Gibraltar, for which an invasion of Britain was part of the strategy, they were finally persuaded by the French to unite against Britain, their common enemy. The French promised to fulfil their wishes and pledged not to sign any peace treaty with Britain or enter into a truce until everything was achieved. In April 1779 France and Spain signed a treaty at the royal palace of Aranjuez that set out the aims of both sides, and in June, after various delays, Spain declared war on Britain, marking the start of the siege of Gibraltar. Drinkwater kept a detailed journal of events throughout the conflict, and he summarised the situation with the words ‘the Fortress of Gibraltar was now become a little world of itself’.17


Although the Great Siege has no other name, it was in reality part of the American War of Independence. The actions and ambitions of France and Spain had caused that war to spill across the Atlantic into Europe, and the war zone would extend from Britain to Gibraltar, Spain and Minorca. Britain found herself virtually alone, at war with most countries in western Europe as well as America, with the Great Siege forming one of the most neglected events within the American War of Independence. No major study of the Great Siege has been published since 1965, when (coincidentally) two books were published, by Jack Russell and T.H. McGuffie.18 If France and Spain had not become entangled in this conflict, Britain would have had thousands more troops and many more warships to deploy in America, and so the outcome of the War of Independence might have been very different. As it is, the Great Siege became one of the most amazing military events in history.




CHAPTER TWO


[image: image]


BLOCKADE


The start of the Great Siege in 1779 was not marked by any spectacular event. There was no sudden bombardment or Spanish ground assault. Nor did a vast Spanish fleet sail into Gibraltar Bay with all guns firing. Instead, the frontier between Spain and Gibraltar was politely but firmly closed, and on either side hasty measures were taken to put the defences on a wartime footing, while engineers considered how the fortifications could be strengthened. As communications with the outside world became more difficult or were cut altogether, everyone on the Rock lost their peacetime idyll and wondered what lay ahead.


The commander of the tiny British Mediterranean fleet, Vice-Admiral Robert Duff, was based on Gibraltar. He had arrived eighteen months earlier, in January 1778, with his wife Lady Helen Duff, who described her impressions of the town to her younger brother Arthur: ‘It is the most uncommon place I ever saw and has a very striking appearance to a stranger, from the tremendous rock that hangs over it. In the streets you would think you was at a masquerade for you see people of all nations in different dresses and speaking different languages.’1 The soldiers of the garrison were largely Protestant, but children born on Gibraltar to parents of any nationality or religion became British subjects. The population was divided more by religion than race, with Protestants, Roman Catholics and Jews forming a mainly harmonious, cosmopolitan society. Ignacio Lopez de Ayala, a Spanish historian writing around this time, explained how military rule kept in check racial and religious hostility within the town itself, which measured less than a mile long and a quarter of a mile wide:






It was apprehended that amid such diversity of persons of different religions, customs, and interests, quarrels and atrocities would prevail in Gibraltar similar to those existing in other cities in Spain. But the severity of a military Government has prevented such disorders; for individuals resorting thither, being aware of the certainty of punishment awaiting offences, and that the magistrates and those in authority cannot be corrupted, find their own security best guaranteed by not disturbing that of others.2








Apart from the military presence, the Rock functioned as a trading port, greatly benefiting from its location between the Mediterranean and the Atlantic, yet close to the north African shore. A small civilian population of Genoese families, originally from the Italian port of Genoa, had lived on the Rock since before the British arrived in 1704, and in the decades leading up to the Great Siege their numbers had been increased by Jews, Portuguese, Minorcans, Spaniards and British – over three thousand individuals in all, most of them crammed together inside the town. Ayala highlighted their great variety:






Almost all the maritime powers maintain Consuls at Gibraltar, commerce being there the principal occupation. The richest mercantile houses are the English; and besides the military and civil officers of the Government, there are other Englishmen, who keep inns and pursue various occupations. The Jews, for the most part, are shopkeepers and brokers … The Genoese are traders, but the greater part of them are fishermen, sailors, and gardeners; and these, as well as the Jews, speak a language compounded of Spanish and English dialect, or jargon, common to all southern nations, not excluding the Africans.3








What is missing are references to people of colour, though there are occasional glimpses, such as forty-year-old ‘Bumper, a Negroe’ who came from Guinea and appeared in the 1777 census, as did three female ‘negroe servants’. They were Jane, thirty years old, from America, and two girls who were born on Gibraltar – Nancy, aged nine, and Betty, aged four. They were all listed as Jewish, which was a catch-all category.4


Some 5400 military men were stationed on Gibraltar, along with 1500 military wives and children, far outnumbering the civilians. At the outset of the siege, five British regiments were present – the 12th, 39th, 56th, 58th and 72nd, supplemented by three Hanoverian German regiments, men from the Royal Artillery, Royal Engineers and Soldier-Artificers, as well as a naval contingent. The rank-and-file soldiers were housed with their families in overcrowded barracks and lodgings within the fortified town or in the substantial South Barracks close to the naval hospital.5 Officers and their families could rent houses from the inhabitants, while those more fortunate had villas with gardens on the hillside overlooking the bay. Life before the siege was tranquil and uneventful. Numerous officers who would play a prominent role in the siege had already been in Gibraltar for years. Some had their wives and children with them, while others were separated from their families or had suffered bereavement. It was a close-knit and constantly evolving world of complex lives and personalities, not always harmonious, where many of the officers were interconnected through marriage and military service.


Lieutenant-Colonel William Green was the chief military engineer responsible for the fortifications and who for years had been designing and implementing changes to the walls, gun batteries and even the natural defences, such as the steep cliff faces and the inundation, in order to prevent infantry assaults. He was a highly able officer who had been in the army since the age of twelve and had come to Gibraltar in 1760 after previous service in Newfoundland and Quebec. His wife Miriam constantly accompanied him to his various postings.6 She had spent nearly half her life on Gibraltar with him and had grown up in a family with a long tradition of military service. Her grandfather Jonas Watson had commanded the artillery at the last siege of Gibraltar in 1727 and was killed at the siege of Cartagena in South America at the advanced age of seventy-eight. Her father Justly Watson had served as a cadet engineer with his father Jonas during that same Gibraltar siege, then pursued a distinguished career as a military engineer until he was murdered in 1757 at St John’s in Newfoundland.


The Green family felt settled in Gibraltar and belonged there. They had an impressive residence in town and a beautiful new house, which they called ‘Mount Pleasant’ or simply ‘The Mount’, on the hillside south of the town. It had glorious views and, as Ayala noted, a substantial garden that Colonel Green had laid out at his own expense two years earlier, ‘well stocked with a variety of exquisite plants, shrubs, and fruit-trees’.7 Mrs Green had given birth to eight children, most of whom were raised on Gibraltar and where two had died – the toddler William-Smith and his sister Louisa-Anne who survived only three weeks. Both of them were buried inside the King’s Chapel.8 Their last child, four-year-old Charlotte, was the only one still with them on Gibraltar.


At the outbreak of hostilities in June 1779, Mrs Green was particularly upset by the sudden separation from Spain, because many of the people had been her friends. She decided to record her experiences in a journal, but could no longer bring herself to refer to the Spaniards by name:






I shall therefore from this time call them — The Enemy — whenever I have occasion to speak of them, which I shall do, as long as circumstances enables me to continue this unconnected, rough journal – and much I fear I should fall short of any style or method, were it intended for any person’s information except such of my family [and] friends who perhaps will not dislike to pass an idle hour in looking over these pages. God only knows who may have the sight of this book or who may ever see the person who now writes this, however I go on. Miriam Green.9








Gibraltar, the place that Mrs Green looked on as home, is an isolated and mountainous crag of rock, a natural fortress jutting incongruously into the sea from the coast of southern Spain. Separated from north Africa by the narrow Strait of Gibraltar (also referred to as the Straits, Streights or Gut), it is strategically located between the Bay of Gibraltar (also known as the Bay of Algeciras) and the Mediterranean Sea and is close to the Atlantic Ocean. In recent decades its shape has been altered by land reclamation and other works, but two centuries ago it measured barely ¾ mile wide and 3 miles long, with the steep, inaccessible limestone cliffs on the eastern side (the ‘back of the Rock’) rising treacherously from the Mediterranean, ruling out settlements, harbours, roads and even paths to the summit.


In the south, the peaks fell away sharply to the rugged and windswept plateaus of Windmill Hill and Europa, where the cliffs around the coast made a close approach by shipping impossible until Rosia Bay was reached on the western side. This side of the Rock, facing the Bay of Gibraltar, was much less severe in profile than the Mediterranean side, and rough paths led up the steep slopes, past fissures and caves, to the perilous knife-edge ridge that was almost 1400 feet in height.10 The traveller and antiquarian Francis Carter was a resident just before the siege: ‘The shape and face of Gibraltar rock is neither promising nor pleasing, and it is as barren as uncouth, not a tree or a shrub hardly to be seen on it above the town … On casting an eye up this barren hill, one would not imagine any living creature could exist upon it.’11


In fact, barely two-fifths of Gibraltar was habitable, and its sole town – also known as Gibraltar – developed in the more sheltered north-western part of the promontory.


At the northern end, mountainous vertical cliffs overlooked the low and narrow sandy isthmus, much of which was transformed into an airfield in the Second World War. While the eastern and northern faces of the Rock were impossible to attack from the Mediterranean, more vulnerable parts had over the centuries been encased in fortifications, most recently by William Green and his engineers. The main defences were in the north-west, where the town faced the Spanish fortifications, with massive brick and stone walls and gun batteries, as well as ditches and a single entrance out of the town – the Landport Gate. The nearby sea gateway of Waterport led to the Old Mole and the port, which was originally the main anchorage for shipping. A mile-and-a-half to the south of the Old Mole was the New Mole (nowadays called the South Mole), just north of Rosia Bay. A monumental wall (‘Line Wall’) ran along the coastline from the town as far as Europa, with fortified outposts – bastions – protruding into the sea to give more scope for directing gun fire at different angles. At the southern end of the town, further defensive walls snaked uphill to the top of the Rock. Heavy guns were mounted not only along the walls and on the bastions, but also up the west-facing slope of the Rock and even on the very ridge.


For those who scrambled up the flights of steps and paths to the ridge, the dramatic views emphasised their isolation – assuming that the visibility was not impeded by dense cloud or sea mist. They were surrounded by water, while vast tantalising swathes of Andalusia lay before them, with the coast of Morocco and the Atlas Mountains to the south, on the other side of the Straits. Gazing towards the west, the Bay of Gibraltar was defined by the coast of Spain and the hills beyond, while the small Spanish town of Algeciras, 5 miles across the bay, was clearly visible, as was San Roque to the north, the town that housed the Spanish governor. Turning to the north-east, the Mediterranean coast of Andalusian Spain curved gently towards Estepona and Marbella, with the snow-capped Sierra Nevada mountains beyond, though access by land was difficult, as Francis Carter noted: ‘The coast from Gibraltar to Estepona, and for two leagues beyond it, is extremely barren, the Sierra continuing about a league from the shore: this road is not to be travelled in the winter, on account of the many rivers and arroyos [streams] you cross, which are so impestuous after the rains, as to carry loaded beasts and horses into the sea.’12 To the east, nothing but the Mediterranean Sea was visible, stretching beyond the horizon for hundreds of miles.


The 1713 Treaty of Utrecht declared that Gibraltar was ceded permanently to Great Britain with its town, castle and port, but without any territory and with no access to the adjoining countryside.13 Viewed from afar, it was easy to mistake Gibraltar for an island, but it was actually linked to Spain by a sandy isthmus between the Mediterranean and the Bay of Gibraltar – only 900 to 1700 yards wide and a few feet above sea level. After the failed thirteenth siege of 1727, the Spaniards embarked on building a fixed barrier known as ‘the Lines’ across the northern isthmus, some 1500 yards from the Rock, leaving the legal status of the rest of the isthmus uncertain. It was supposedly neutral territory, but some of the land close to the Rock was utilised as market gardens, a cemetery and an ‘inundation’ – a salt marsh that was deliberately flooded to enhance the British fortifications. One inhabitant described it as ‘about 200 yards in length, and 60 in breadth. It is always kept filled with water, nearly man-height, from sluices made to let in the sea from the bay; chevaux de frize, iron hoops, and many other articles to entangle and obstruct an enemy, are also heaped in this canal.’14


The Spanish Lines comprised a curtain wall with gun emplacements at intervals and a fort at each end, designed to stop people crossing the isthmus and to prevent trade. It also posed a significant threat, as explained by Lieutenant-Colonel Thomas James of the Royal Artillery, who had lived in Gibraltar two decades before the Great Siege:






The Spaniards … have run a line from the Mediterranean to the bay [of Gibraltar], and at each end have erected strong forts under the fire [within range] of our own cannon. The above line will be of infinite service to the Spaniards, should they ever attempt to break ground [construct attacking earthworks] against the place, as likewise the fort of the bay side [Fort St Philip], which does totally interrupt the freedom of the port, and commands it so well, that no ships can ride in the proper anchorage … so will the fort on the Mediterranean side [Fort St Barbara] prevent our ships from enfilading their approaches.15








Guns high up on the Rock could reach the Lines, though the Spanish guns were too far away to bombard the town or fortifications with ease, because at this stage they were mounted on ordinary gun carriages and were incapable of being elevated sufficiently to reach far into Gibraltar. The nearest guns at Fort St Barbara on the Mediterranean faced the highest part of the north face of the Rock, while on the opposite shore, Fort St Philip could fire over the low-lying defences on the north-west side and reach the town. For a bombardment to be more effective, the Spaniards needed to enhance the Lines and establish gun batteries on the isthmus itself, much closer to Gibraltar. They now embarked on spending vast sums of money working towards that objective.


At the outbreak of hostilities, Lieutenant-General George Augustus Eliott was quick to display blunt orders in the Grand Parade (now John Mackintosh Square), directed at the civilians:






All male inhabitants of whatever country or class, who are not willing to take arms, or perform such office as shall be required, in defence of this Fortress, are forthwith to depart with their families … All inhabitants are to send a return in writing on the first of every month, under cover to the Secretary, specifying their number in each family, and stock of provisions laid in … Any inhabitant of, or dependant upon this Garrison who is suspected of acting contrary to this order, will be proceeded against by Military Law.16








In a letter sent to London, Eliott revealed his distrust of the population, saying that Gibraltar was ‘now filled with a number of inhabitants to the amount of about three thousand six hundred, of all countries, and all religions, amongst which many [are] of suspicious character’. Martial law was now declared, and anyone communicating with the enemy was to be treated as a spy.17


One of the first tasks was to put some of the inhabitants to work levelling the isthmus close to the Rock, as Captain Rice Price of the 56th Regiment described: ‘This morning at five o’clock two hundred Jews and Genoese sent under the inspection of the Engineers to level the hedges and ditches with the tumps of sand on the neutral ground to prevent the enemy’s concealed approaches and to allow the fairer range to our cannon.’18 The men were required to do any work that was needed, and as far as Eliott was concerned, those refusing to take part would be turned out. The military garrison took precedence over all else.


On Eliott’s appointment as governor of Gibraltar three years earlier, Lieutenant-Governor Robert Boyd had sent him a letter of congratulation: ‘After the loss of my friend Cornwallis, with whom I have lived in the most perfect agreement, I am happy to find that his successor is my very old acquaintance.’19 Some two decades earlier Boyd was serving on Minorca with Lieutenant-General Edward Cornwallis until, in 1756, the island fell to the French. Cornwallis was on leave in England at the time, but returned to Minorca with Admiral Byng’s fleet and was one of those who advised the ill-fated admiral to give up and sail away. At that very moment, Boyd had been making a heroic but unsuccessful effort to row to the fleet in a small boat with a message from the garrison commander. He subsequently fought in the German campaign, including the famous Battle of Minden against the French on 1 August 1759, during which he encountered Eliott.


In 1766, Boyd became the colonel of the 39th Regiment, and two years later, at the age of fifty-eight, he took up the post of second-in-command to Cornwallis, who was then the governor of Gibraltar. The following year, in 1769, Boyd’s own regiment, the 39th, was also posted to Gibraltar.20 In decades past, regiments carried the name of their colonel, but this had been replaced by a system of numbering regiments. A colonel was the head or proprietor of his regiment, responsible for the men’s clothing and for dealing with contractors and government departments to supply everything the regiment needed. These matters were usually organised through an agent, offering opportunities for making money.


Captain James Horsbrugh, from Cupar in Scotland, was one of Boyd’s officers. Born in about 1730, he had joined the 39th in 1755, initially serving in India as an ensign. He married Margaret (‘Peggy’) Bell in 1762, and she accompanied him to Gibraltar when the regiment was posted there. In all, his wife would give birth to four children – Madge, Betsy and another daughter named after Boyd’s wife Arabella, as well as a son who was given the name Boyd, such were the close ties that developed between the Horsbrughs and the Boyds.21


There were no cavalry regiments in the Gibraltar garrison, so the lowest level of commissioned officer was the ensign or second lieutenant, from which an officer would hope to work his way up to become a lieutenant, then a captain, a major and finally a lieutenant-colonel. It was the lieutenant-colonel who normally commanded a regiment in the field. Under Governor Cornwallis, Horsbrugh had taken on the role of town-major and also aide-de-camp to Boyd, and by the end of 1770 he was appointed to the rank of captain.22 The highly stratified social order in Britain drew a sharp distinction between the common soldiers, who had a dubious reputation, and the higher-class officers, who were regarded as gentlemen and mostly bought their commissions, except for the artillery and engineer officers who had technical training and were appointed on merit. All other officers were untrained, relying on their social class to command respect and buying subsequent promotions within their regiment. Below the lowest rank of commissioned officers were the non-commissioned officers, who did not buy their ranks but were appointed. At the top was the sergeant major, then the quartermaster sergeant, sergeant, corporal and drummer. At the very bottom of the hierarchy was the mass of private soldiers – the rank-and-file or common soldiers.


From 1773, Colonel Boyd was in sole command as acting governor of Gibraltar, because Cornwallis was absent, too ill ever to return, and that same year Charles Ross from north-east Scotland purchased the lieutenant-colonelcy of the 39th Regiment. About twenty years younger than Boyd and unmarried, he had been unemployed for several years, and his arrival at Gibraltar established a highly unusual and stressful situation in which the colonel and lieutenant-colonel of the same regiment were serving in the same location.23 Having served as acting governor for some years, Boyd may have expected promotion when Cornwallis died and so was probably disappointed that Eliott was chosen. Instead, he and Arabella decided to apply for a period of leave, but they had to wait more than a year for Eliott to arrive. Finally, at the end of May 1777, Horsbrugh wrote to his wife Peggy in Scotland to say that the new governor had at last come to Gibraltar:






General Eliott arrived here on Sunday last, he has received me as well as I could wish, and insists on my continuing to live at the Convent [the governor’s official residence]. The character he bears of being a remarkable strict Commanding Officer has put us on our mettle; nothing however has as yet appeared to confirm this. On the contrary he seems much pleased with us, but I know for a certainty that great alterations are intended, which I am afraid will fall heavy on my shoulders. He appears polite and affable to all while at same time he expects a very particular attention from those immediately under him that will require a constant attendance, which however irksome such a confinement will be, I am determined to conform myself to it, and give up every little amusement with the view of making myself useful to him.24








Peggy had returned to Scotland after ending up in a wretched state of health the previous year. Having given birth to Arabella in February 1776, she then nearly lost the other two children in a scarlet fever epidemic. A few weeks later, towards the end of May, Horsbrugh had accompanied her back to Britain, ostensibly for the sake of the children’s education, but in reality because she could no longer cope and dreaded the prospect of another summer in Gibraltar.25 He returned to Gibraltar alone, though the few surviving letters show his absolute love and anxiety for Peggy and the children, mingled with financial worries now that he had a household in Scotland to maintain. Horsbrugh longed for her to return, though once the siege started in 1779, his emotions must have changed to immense relief that his family was already safe. He need not have worried about Eliott’s opinion of him, because he rated Horsbrugh highly, and instead of his role as town-major, he appointed him adjutant-general and would later describe him as ‘so perfectly intelligent … a very good soldier … He has no riches but his integrity.’26


One of Eliott’s first orders of the siege was that anyone staying in Gibraltar should have sufficient provisions to last six months, so that they could withstand the blockade. Many inhabitants were compelled to leave, because they were too poor to lay in such a quantity of stores. Gibraltar was not self-sufficient. Market gardens and vineyards supplied some of their needs, various animals were raised, and the seas all round teemed with fish, as did the inundation, but most provisions were imported by sea. The strategic military aim of Spain was therefore simple – to starve the garrison into an early capitulation by establishing a blockade to prevent food and other supplies reaching Gibraltar. Only a week after the siege was announced, Captain Price commented: ‘Fairly blockaded by sea and land. The Enemy have two ships of the line in the Bay, three frigates and as many xebeques. These they have ranged along the opposite coast at due distances to intercept all supplies to the Garrison. I hope to live to see these ships on fire yet, if the old English spirit for enterprise still subsists.’27


Fifty-eight-year-old Vice-Admiral Robert Duff from Fife in Scotland had only three warships at his disposal – his flagship HMS Panther (a 60-gun battleship), HMS Enterprise (a 28-gun frigate) and HMS Childers (a 14-gun sloop). Before his appointment to the Mediterranean, he had been commander-in-chief at Newfoundland, after a long naval career. When his wife Helen accompanied him to Gibraltar the previous year, three of their children came with them – Jean then aged thirteen, Robert aged eleven and Adam aged three. Only a few months later, in September 1778, tragedy struck when Helen died. They had been married fourteen years, and being widowed may well have affected his outlook, exacerbated by ill health, which was attributed to gout.28


Duff’s warships were supplemented by several privateers – these were ships and occasionally smaller boats that were privately owned and fitted out, operating as warships under licence from the government. Their main aim was to capture enemy shipping and those cargoes carried by neutral vessels intended to benefit the enemy, in return for a reward (‘prize-money’). Often dubbed ‘legalised pirates’, privateers would prove especially useful for supplying the besieged fortress with cargoes of food and drink. In early July, Mrs Green noted the arrival of three new privateers: ‘3 fine cutters came in from England fitted out as privateers to take either French or Americans. They were stout vessels indeed.’ Built at the port of Dover in Kent, they were capable of carrying sixteen to twenty guns each and soon made their presence felt, with Horsbrugh recording in his diary less than a week later: ‘the cutters sent in a Dutch vessel loaded with wine for Cadiz, and a Spanish prize.’29


That same day, 11 July 1779, the Childers sloop was sent out into the Mediterranean to look for similar prizes, which provoked the very first shot of the siege. Drinkwater described how it came to be fired from Fort St Barbara: ‘Admiral Duff having intelligence that a large fleet of small vessels was to sail from Malaga, with wine and provisions for the Spanish grand fleet, ordered the Childers, on the 11th, to cruise to the eastward, and give information, by signal, when they appeared, with the strength of their convoy. Whilst she was on the look-out, her boat gave chase to a settee, and was fired at from Fort St. Barbara, which was the first hostile shot from the enemy.’30


Later in the day, a substantial Spanish convoy of about thirty polacres, settees, feluccas and other vessels appeared from the east, escorted by a fairly weak naval squadron of five xebecs. These were all traditional Mediterranean craft that the Spaniards frequently used. Onlookers assumed that Duff would send out the two larger warships to try to take further prizes, but when he failed to act immediately Mrs Green was one of those who felt great disappointment at this lost opportunity: ‘It was now eagerly wished, and expected, that the Admiral [in the Panther] and the only frigate viz. the Enterprize, Sir Thomas Rich, would hasten out, as it was pretty certain this was a fleet intended for Algezira. At last Admiral Duff did make a signal. The Enterprize got ready, as soon as possible, but it was 5 o’clock before the Admiral got out. It was by [then] much too late! and the fleet got through that night. This occasioned great discontent.’31


Captain Thomas Paterson of the Royal Artillery took a more generous view, saying that Duff had waited until the Spanish convoy came close to the Rock, in case they fled south towards Ceuta, which is exactly what did happen when the Panther and Enterprise showed signs of sailing.32 The motley assemblage of British warships and privateers made chase and returned the next morning with a few more prizes. Duff ensured that his official report portrayed this operation in the best possible light: ‘The prizes are all laden with useful articles for this garrison, their cargoes consisting chiefly of wines, brandies, and some small quantities of bread, and other like provisions; of which commodities are also the cargoes of eight other Spanish prizes taken by his Majesty’s vessels and the privateers from this place.’ Prisoners-of-war were also captured, but they were returned to Spain straightaway, as Horsbrugh described: ‘Most of the Spaniards belonging to the vessels we had taken were sent round in boats from the New Mole, landed opposite the gardens on the neutral ground and permitted to pass into Spain.’33


The sixty-two-year-old Spanish Admiral Don Antonio Barcelo, famous for his campaigns against Algerian pirates, was now in command of the blockade, and more ships soon arrived to enlarge his fleet, as Lieutenant Holloway recorded in mid-July: ‘A Spanish squadron came into the Bay, and anchored off Algeziras between 1 and 2 o’clock. It consisted of 1 ship of 70 guns, 1 of 60, two large frigates, 3 xebeques and several small armed vessels.’34 It was crucial to keep on good terms with Morocco, which supplied so many provisions, and Charles Logie, the British consul at Tangier, was a valuable intermediary who kept Gibraltar informed of any news and forwarded newspapers and letters. He managed to slip through the blockade in a Moorish galley to try to persuade Admiral Duff to assist with the repair of a ship belonging to the Emperor. On his return, Logie’s vessel was stopped and searched for several hours by one of Barcelo’s squadron, as Mrs Green heard: ‘It was … reported that Mr Logie was taken in going over (but it was not true as we heard afterwards). The vessel was certainly boarded by the Spaniards, and he was in the dress of a Moor, not only so but hid himself under some sails, and by that means escaped. Otherwise he would most likely have been taken either to Ceuta or to Algezira.’35 Algeciras, across the bay from Gibraltar, was being used as the local base for Barcelo’s squadron that was blockading the Rock. It was a small port that was protected by a fort on an island just offshore, called Green Island or Isla Verde, with its Arabic name of el Gezira el-Khadra having been corrupted to Algeciras.


With the increased blockade, it did not take long for shortages to be noticed, and despite friendly relations with Morocco, supplies were becoming less frequent. Mrs Green observed that ‘the whole Garrison seems displeased and uneasy. Not any vessels of late has come from Barbary [Morocco], and our livestock is but little.’36 In order to conserve flour for bread, Drinkwater remarked, one of Eliott’s initial orders was for troops to ‘mount guard with their hair unpowdered; a circumstance trifling in appearance, but which our situation afterwards proved to be of great importance’.37 This was a significant cultural shift, because it was customary for soldiers to have shoulder-length hair, which was scraped back and plaited at the neck into a queue that was tied with leather strips, greased and covered in hair powder – usually flour. This time-consuming and pointless task would often fall to the soldiers’ wives.


Towards the end of July, restrictions were imposed on the keeping of animals. ‘Orders issued by the Governor,’ said Price,






that no horses or mules are to remain in the Garrison after Saturday next whose owners have not one thousand weight of straw or other forage in proportion for them, except those belonging to the staff or to Field Officers. I gave my old English horse away sooner than shoot him, and some very good horses [of] Captain Tuite’s of the 39th in particular sold for fifteen reals Gibraltar currency (about five shillings and eight pence sterling). All dogs wandering about the street ordered to be killed. NB no animals who can eat (except ourselves) privileged.38








Although there was no cavalry, most officers owned horses, and as a cavalryman it would have been unpalatable for Eliott to take such measures, but he needed to reduce the number of useless mouths and ensure that the horses and mules did not starve. In order to lead by example, he had one of his own horses shot. He himself was known to favour cats, and cartoons were produced of him with cats, including one caricature years later ‘surrounded by cats gambolling and playing many antics, to the great delight of the General’.39 Cats escaped his cull, and they did have their uses in keeping down the numbers of rodents.


At the same time, he allowed several native-born Spanish inhabitants to leave through the Landport Gate and cross the isthmus into Spain. ‘The Spaniards by some means,’ Price said, ‘have caused it to be signified to those inhabitants of the Garrison who are natural born subjects of Spain that they will allow them a free passage through the Lines until Sunday next, in case they choose to remove with their families and effects. In consequence of this, several have removed, terrified at the thoughts of a siege.’ Another soldier heard that the Spanish sentries at the Lines refused to let any of them pass until they had served a period of quarantine: ‘The Spaniards keep them under quarantine on the isthmus, six, eight, and ten days, and supply each person with a loaf daily.’ It was actually a fortnight before they were allowed to pass into Spain.40


Before too long, many more inhabitants left for other destinations. As Drinkwater said, they were ‘apprehensive that the garrison would be besieged, [and] thought … to seek an asylum in time. Indeed about this time scarcely a boat or vessel left the port without being crowded with Jews or Genoese, who preferred a residence in Barbary, or Portugal, to remaining in Gibraltar, where the necessaries of life became every day more scarce.’41 Many others went to England. Not all those who remained were enthusiastic about undertaking the labouring duties required of them. Price heard that ‘Some refractory Jews for refusing to work [were] turned out at Land Port by the Governor but readmitted on submission.’ Less than a week later, Genoese inhabitants were rounded up after attending a service at the church (now the cathedral) of St Mary the Crowned in Main Street, usually referred to as the Spanish church because it was Roman Catholic: ‘The Spanish church [was] surrounded by parties from the Main Guard, and several refractory Genoese who, under pretence of a Saint’s day had refused to work in levelling the sands outside Land Port, [were] nabbed in coming out of church and compelled to work. A pretty set of fair weather sparks truly who, when the skies look lowering and dangers encompass us around, sneaks off and shrink from the storm.’ They may have been reluctant workers, but there was no doubt of the loyalty of the Jews who, remembering their past persecution by Spain, dreaded Gibraltar being captured and were now ‘fasting and praying in their synagogues for the success of his Majesty’s arms the whole night long’.42


The next few weeks were in reality a phoney war, with Spanish ships firing at, and occasionally chasing, vessels that tried to evade the blockade, while on land both sides worked hard on their fortifications. In sieges, the besieging forces tended to win in the end, and so the key considerations were: how long would it take? and how much would it cost (both financially and in manpower)? The Spaniards were confident that by maintaining the blockade and building up considerable forces for an attack, it was inevitable that the Rock would be theirs. Gibraltar’s more limited options were focused on withstanding the siege and wearing down the Spanish forces to such a degree that they might give up or be forced eventually to move to another more pressing theatre of war. All through July and August 1779, guns were shifted about and new ones mounted, the fortifications were reinforced and improved, new batteries constructed, a communication line dug from the Moorish castle to the Prince’s Lines, the rock face cut back at the north end to prevent an infantry attack and stores moved to safety. All this activity was summarised by Drinkwater:






The engineers were busily employed in putting the works at Willis’s [batteries high up on the north front] in the best repair, and in erecting new batteries on the heights of the North front. A considerable extent of ground above the Town was cleared and levelled, to encamp the different regiments in case the enemy should fire upon the Town. Parties were likewise detached to collect shrubs, &c. from the face of the hill, for fascines; and the artillery were daily engaged in completing the expence magazines with powder, ranging the different ordnance, and preparing everything for immediate use in their department.43








A rapid way of shoring up and repairing fortifications in siege warfare was with sandbags and with wooden barrels and gabions (cylindrical wicker baskets) filled with sand, soil, stones or rocks. Also used were fascines, which were long bundles of brushwood tightly bound with pliable wood or rope.44 Brushwood began to be cut for the never-ending task of making fascines, and early on General Orders were displayed to prohibit the wasteful cutting of materials: ‘To preserve firing [fuel] for our ovens in case of necessity, strict orders were given to prevent soldiers or others cutting down the Palmeto bushes, brushwood or grass on any part of the Garrison without leave from the Governor.’ Boats were even taken round the back of the Rock so that brushwood could be cut in that inaccessible location. Another order affected the inhabitants in particular – much of the Rock was declared out of bounds: ‘No person without a permit, except belonging to the Navy or Army, in their uniform, to be suffered to go upon the Hill above the New Road.’45


While the engineers were responsible for constructing defensive works and batteries in which guns were placed, it was the role of the Royal Artillery to fire the guns, but they had too few men, and so about 180 men were ordered to be taken from the regiments and attached to the artillery. Paterson noticed that two inhabitants also stepped forward to join: ‘Mr. A. Webber & Mr. J. Grumly have joined the R. Artillery with the Governor’s approbation to serve as Volunteers during the investiture of this place by the Enemy. Are to be attested and receive each Mattrosses cloathing.’ In the 1777 census, both men were listed as Protestants. John Grumley was now twenty years old and Arthur Webber was a thirty-seven-year-old merchant, and they were both joining the Royal Artillery as matrosses, who were assistants to the gunners. Many inhabitants were already employed in the King’s service, though it was rare for any of them to join the armed forces. Grumley would later become a second lieutenant, but was killed in action before the end of the siege.46


Because insufficient men were highly skilled in the use of the musket, another order was given to recruit marksmen:






A Corps of Marksmen to consist of a lieutenant, one British serjeant and corporal, one Hanoverian serjeant and corporal, and one private man from each battalion company of the line to be formed immediately, care to be taken that the men fixed upon for this service are expert at firing at a mark. Lieutenant Burleigh of the 39th Regiment is appointed to command this Corps. The non-commissioned officers and one half the private men to attend the drill twice a day and fire ball at a mark. From the time they begin to be employed upon actual service they will receive an addition to their pay equal to what has been ordered for the men attached to the Royal Artillery.47








All the soldiers were armed with a smooth-bore musket of the ‘Brown Bess’ type that had been standard issue for decades. It was fired by a flintlock, a mechanism powered by a strong spring, which was ‘cocked’ by drawing back a lever with a flint attached. When the trigger was pulled, the spring brought this lever down on to a steel striking plate. Sparks flew into a small pan of gunpowder, and the resulting flame travelled through a touch-hole and set off the gunpowder charge inside the barrel.


By the time of the siege, prepared cartridges containing gunpowder and a round lead bullet (usually called a ‘ball’) were issued. To load the musket with a cartridge, the soldier first pulled back the cock to the first notch, ‘half-cock’, allowing the cover (‘frizzen’) of the pan to be raised. This cover was attached to the steel striking plate. The soldier then bit the end off the cartridge and held the ball in his mouth, while he tipped a little gunpowder into the pan of the flintlock. Once he had replaced the cover on the pan to stop the gunpowder spilling out, he tipped the rest down the barrel, spat in the ball and rammed the paper casing of the cartridge on top to hold it in place. The musket was now ready to fire. Muskets were most effective and accurate at ranges of less than 100 yards; beyond this distance they became increasingly inaccurate. The main advantage of the musket was that well-trained soldiers could load and fire one every twelve seconds, giving a rate of fire of five shots per minute. For close combat, muskets also had detachable bayonets.


The Spaniards were also busy, and an ominous development occurred when a camp started to form some 3 to 4 miles away on the common of San Roque, with streets of white canvas bell tents. After only two days, Mrs Green wrote: ‘the Enemy increasing their encampment and making great preparation … unloading stores, pitching more tents, &c, &c, and thus ended the month of July. Various were the opinions, though it seemed most probable that the Enemy’s intentions were to make every possible and effectual trial to establish a stronger blockade.’ She had to admit that Barcelo was an extremely good naval officer, as his squadron was managing to stop virtually every vessel heading their way.48


In her diary, Mrs Green jotted down her own observations and also fragments of information shared with her. She was sure they could ‘be depended upon, as they are from our own Corps [Engineers], and mostly from the Gentleman that is in the Colonel’s family, who would hardly bring a false account’. She meant thirty-year-old Lieutenant Charles Holloway, an engineer, who had arrived in Gibraltar in 1777. Colonel Green had appointed him as his aide-de-camp, and so Holloway was one of his close circle, or military ‘family’. Several officers, she said, also kept journals: ‘The Engineers all do, for the Chief Engineer’s inspections, and he keeps a very separate one, which I believe is not intended to be shown to anyone in this Garrison.’ Until now, nobody knew what Spain had in mind, apart from the blockade, but Mrs Green concluded that ‘it is not to be doubted but the intention of the Spaniards is to attack this Garrison’.49


From high up on the Rock, it was possible for the officers to look across to Spain with the aid of portable telescopes or spy glasses and spot much of what was going on. Gibraltar towered above everything, so that the Spanish positions were laid out below them like a map. The Spaniards were at a huge disadvantage, looking upwards at the Rock and unable to gain a clear picture of the fortress. Even their highest positions at San Roque and the adjacent hill known as the Queen of Spain’s Chair (or Sierra Carbonera) were too low and too distant to yield much helpful information, even with the assistance of telescopes. In Britain, John Dollond had developed a telescope that included an achromatic lens which produced a clearer image, and his firm had a virtual monopoly on telescopes used by naval officers on board ship and by army officers on land. It amused Mrs Green to see the young officers competing with each other for information:






It now became quite fashionable to get all the news each one could collect; and by way of gaining all that, everybody was using spy glasses from morning to night. All those that affected great cleverness were ever ready with a pencil and paper, and it was really laughable enough to see with what a jealous eye each aid de camp looked at the other, fearing he should be the first to communicate his ideas of what he supposed the Enemy was about! Various therefore was the reports, and could not always agree.50








Officers from the navy, artillery and engineers were frequently accomplished artists and draughtsmen, which were valuable skills in reconnaissance and espionage, and so pencil and paper were not just for jotting down ideas, but for sketching details. One of those officers was Captain Paterson: ‘Took a sketch of the enemy camp consisting of 2 battalions of foot, 2 regiments of horse and about 400 artillery. Discovered from the top of the Rock about 26 heavy guns mounted on travelling carriages drawn up in two lines behind Fort Negro.’51


More and more Spanish troops and cavalry came into their camp, and by the first week in August, Holloway thought there were 4500 men all told. Prodigious quantities of equipment were also being landed from boats and ships, including guns, gun carriages, mortars, shot, shells, tents, bedding, vast quantities of brushwood for fascines, wool, straw, planks and timber piles. The guns along the entire stretch of the Lines were dismantled and then gradually remounted, with considerable structural work done to improve the fortifications, particularly in the forts at each end. Much of the work took place at night, out of view, and Drinkwater said that ‘at night we generally observed a number of lights, and frequently heard a noise like that of men employed on some laborious duty; this might be that of dragging cannon’.52 Each day the scene changed for those officers watching intently. ‘Saw from the top of the Rock 18 guns laying dismounted in Fort Barbara,’ wrote Paterson in mid-August, ‘likewise tracks of carriages into Fort St. Philips, and 4 guns supposed to be brought from their camp last night and the night before. Behind Fort Negro the enemy appear to have 6 brass mortars, 26 battering cannon, a great quantity of shot, shells, ammunition boxes etc.’53 More than forty ox teams were hauling materials to the forts, along with numerous waggons.


By the end of August, five large laboratory tents had been erected for the preparation of ammunition, and the garrison realised that a huge mortar battery was being constructed next to Fort St Philip.54 Everyone feared that the bombardment of the Rock was about to begin. They were completely unaware that Spain’s attention was in fact focused far more on invading Britain at that moment.




CHAPTER THREE


[image: image]


INVASION


France had joined America as an ally in the war against Britain in 1778, still feeling humiliated by the loss of territories after the Seven Years’ War. With this opportunity to avenge their defeat and adjust the balance of power within Europe, the old plans for an invasion of Britain were revised. Although the last war had drained the resources of both countries, in France there had been a determined effort to improve the armed forces, especially the navy. This was not the case in Britain, and by the time the two countries were at war once more, many ships in the Royal Navy were facing repair or replacement. Even so, the French navy was not strong enough to send ships to help the Americans, defend French overseas territories and provide protection for an invasion of Britain. What France also needed was the Spanish navy.1


Both France and Spain agreed on the idea of an invasion of Britain, yet it took months to settle the details. France thought that Britain’s strength lay in its control of the English Channel, the anchorage at Spithead and the nearby naval base at Portsmouth, and so wanted to seize those key places. Spain, perhaps more realistically, believed that any invasion of southern England would force Britain to relinquish Gibraltar in return for a withdrawal of the invading forces. In the final version of the invasion plan, it was decided that the French and Spanish fleets would meet up no later than mid-May 1779 off the port of Corunna in north-west Spain. Together, they would head for the English Channel, and, with the protection of this combined fleet, a French invasion force would cross the Channel from France and capture the Isle of Wight, Gosport and Portsmouth. Various alternative targets, such as Plymouth and the Channel Islands, were also chosen in case of unforeseen events.


Without a common language or signalling system, there was plenty of scope for confusion, while a string of last-minute changes added to the problems of the two navies working together. From the outset, delays occurred because the Spaniards insisted on a formal statement of their grievances with Britain and a declaration of war, which they would only undertake after the French fleet had left the port of Brest in north-west France and was heading for the rendezvous. Under this additional pressure, the French commander Admiral d’Orvilliers set sail in early June, already a month late, with insufficient food, water and medicine, no lemons to combat scurvy and unsuitable recruits as sailors and soldiers. A week later, the rendezvous was reached, and a vessel went into Corunna to inform the Spanish fleet.


The British government was well aware of events in France and Spain, including the preparations of the invasion fleet, because it assembled intelligence from a variety of sources, such as captains of naval and merchant ships, smugglers, friends of Britain in neutral countries, British residents still living in France and, of course, spies. Most nations had their own intelligence network, and those of Britain and France were particularly active. In every major port, spies were observing the movements of shipping, and in Britain there was a constant watch for potential spies and saboteurs. The General Post Office had a specific department dedicated to the interception and copying of dispatches and correspondence to and from foreign countries, which often operated similar systems themselves. To combat this, letters were sent in code, and the Post Office had a cipher department that decoded letters for government and official bodies before passing them on, as well as attempting to decipher foreign letters written in code. Another source of information was the network of consuls and ambassadors in neutral countries, which had included Spain until the official declaration of war.2


Detailed intelligence about the preparations of the Franco-Spanish fleet had already found its way to Britain. When part of the Spanish fleet was being fitted out in the port of Cadiz, the British consul there, Josiah Hardy, was well placed to pass on reports. On 25 May he wrote in code to Lord Grantham, who was the British ambassador at Madrid: ‘Orders came yesterday to get the whole fleet now here completely equipt for sea on the first of next month, the ships are to come down into the bay in order to be ready for sailing. They are to be formed into three divisions, one of which is to sail immediately under the command of Vice Admiral [Don Antonio] Ulloa and will be eight ships of the line & two frigates.’3 The actual coded passage began ‘kwnbwr. mlyb. dbrxbwnld. ak. &bx. azb. ezkso. gsbbx.’, representing the words ‘Orders came yesterday to get the whole fleet’. This is a substitution code, where k = o, w = r, d = n, e = b, r = s, and so on, but such codes are relatively simple and easy to break. Hardy’s letters are unusual in this respect, because most letters were written in a numerical code, constructed from a table where each word was represented by a specific group of numbers. Surviving letters to and from Eliott on Gibraltar used a stronger, numerical code, not a simple substitution code like Hardy’s.


As a result of all the intelligence flowing back to London, preparations were being made for a defence against invasion. The biggest problem was a shortage of men for both the army and navy. They were all – technically – volunteers, but countless rank-and-file volunteers (‘privates’) were lured into the army by dubious recruiting methods, while the navy frequently resorted to forcible recruitment by press-gangs. The army units assigned to the defence of Britain were greatly under strength, but were bolstered by the militia and fencibles. The militia was the army reserve, raised locally by ballot and, despite any training, largely inexperienced. Coxheath Camp near Maidstone in Kent became the biggest camp for training completely raw militia conscripts from all over the country, forming a strategically placed reserve against invasion. The fencibles were similar forces, but their service was strictly limited in duration and confined to a particular area. Taken together, the army, militia and fencibles appeared to be a strong defensive force, but the quality of these troops varied enormously, and many were barely fit for any military service.4


Units of fencibles were being hastily recruited and trained all over Britain, and John Macdonald, an unmarried teacher of about twenty-six years of age, was one of many who joined a regiment in Scotland, enlisting in the North Fencibles during the summer of 1778. A few months later at Inverness, he was persuaded to join the second battalion of the 73rd Highland Regiment by its colonel, George Mackenzie, who had heard him play the Highland bagpipes. The 73rd was originally raised for the war in America, mostly from the remote Scottish Highlands of Ross-shire and Cromarty, but the first battalion would be sent to Africa and India and this second battalion to Gibraltar. Being too late to travel on board the transports, Macdonald made his own way to Portsmouth, the first time he had ever left the Highlands, and in June 1779 he sailed with the rest of the troops to the naval base of Plymouth.5


After almost a month, on 24 July, Macdonald said that they ‘received an order to remove from Dock Barracks and encamp a little beyond Maker Church, on Lord Edgecomb’s estate in Cornwall. The troops which composed this camp were the 1st battalion of the Royal Scots on the right, the Leicester and North Hampshire militia regiments in the centre, and the 2nd battalion of the 73rd regiment on the left.’6 Although soldiers like him may have been unaware of why they were shifting position, regiments were being strategically placed in vulnerable areas, and in their case it was to strengthen the defences of Plymouth in the light of the intelligence about the invasion fleet. The Edgecumbe estate, where Macdonald was camped, was on the west side of Plymouth Sound, separated from the town of Plymouth and the naval base by a narrow stretch of water. Troops were stationed here to prevent any invaders from coming ashore and bombarding the town and dockyard.


Although the French fleet arrived off Corunna in early June, six weeks passed while Don Antonio d’Arce, the admiral in charge of the Spanish fleet, stalled and wasted time until finally ordered by his government to sail. By now, Spain had officially declared war on Britain and the siege of Gibraltar had begun. After all this waiting, the French fleet found that their inadequate supplies were rapidly dwindling, and sickness had also taken hold, with seamen falling ill with smallpox and fevers. It was not until the end of July that the combined fleet finally set sail for Britain and was almost immediately caught by adverse winds that delayed them reaching the English Channel. It was not an auspicious start to the invasion.


In mid-August, close to Falmouth in Cornwall, the 74-gun battleship HMS Marlborough, accompanied by the Ramillies, Isis and Cormorant sloop, came across the invasion fleet. Believing the ships to be British, they only just avoided capture. For speed, the Marlborough’s first lieutenant, Sir Jacob Wheate, travelled in the Cormorant to Plymouth, from where he used a relay of horses to rush to London with the news that a huge French and Spanish fleet of over sixty warships had arrived. Before long, it was spotted from the Cornish coast, creating sheer panic, as newspapers reported:






Extract of a letter from Falmouth … On the 15th inst. about twelve at noon, we were much alarmed by seeing a great fleet. On their near approach they appeared to be the French and Spanish fleets, consisting to the best of our knowledge of 62 sail of the line, and about 40 inferior sail. They remained here till three this afternoon, and then steered to the eastward. Most of the inhabitants on their approach sent their families and effects away to different parts. We have about eight companies of militia, and a great number of miners [mainly tin miners], who paraded the town and harbours all night and day. This place is in confusion, everything is at a stand. We illuminated all our windows, and no person was in bed the whole night.7
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